IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

FEB 7 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

VIRGINIA GAIL LARZELERE,

Appellant,

Vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

CASE NUMBER 81,793

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632
CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In referring to the record on appeal, the following symbols will be used:

- (R) The pleadings consisting of eight volumes, 1338 pages;
- (T) The transcripts consisting of fifty-nine volumes, 7360 pages; and
- (SR) The supplemental record consisting of five volumes, 628 pages.

The Appellant, Virginia Larzelere, will be referred to as the Appellant or by her proper name. The government will be referred to as the State or the prosecutor.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 24, 1991, a grand jury indicted the Appellant, Virginia Gail Larzelere, and Jason Eric Larzelere for the premeditated murder of Norman Larzelere. (R4) Due to a conflict of interest, the state attorney for the Seventh Judicial Circuit voluntarily disqualified himself and the governor assigned the state attorney for the Ninth Judicial Circuit to investigate and prosecute the case. (R6-8) On May 24, 1991, Appellant filed a written notification of the exercise of her constitutional rights. (R10-11) Appellant filed a demand for discovery as well as a Brady demand. (R14-15,18-19, 313-14)

Appellant filed a motion for special verdict forms at the penalty phase that would allow the jury to make specific findings regarding aggravating circumstances. (R20-24) Appellant filed a motion to dismiss the indictment based on constitutional grounds (separation of powers). (R28-29) Appellant also filed a motion to preclude comments and instructions that tended to denigrate the role of the jury at the advisory phase (Caldwell v. Mississippi). (R30-37) Appellant filed a motion for two separate juries, one to consider guilt and the other to consider penalty. (R61-62) Appellant also filed a motion to compel the State to disclose evidence of mitigating circumstances. (R66-69) Appellant filed a motion in limine seeking to prohibit any inquiry of prospective jurors regarding their attitude towards

Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963).

the death penalty. (R70-72) Prior to trial, Appellant also filed a motion seeking to prohibit jury dispersal throughout the proceedings. (R103-4)

Appellant moved for a statement of aggravating circumstances. (R105-9) Appellant asked the trial court to declare Section 921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes, unconstitutional (automatic aggravator in premeditated murders and shifting of burden of proof). (R112-14) Appellant sought to restrict dismissal of jurors who could be fair at the guilt phase but were not "death-qualified." (R115-24) Appellant moved to declare Florida's death penalty statute to be unconstitutional in that the aggravating and mitigating circumstances are impermissibly vague and overbroad. (R140-47) Appellant filed a motion to dismiss based, inter alia, on the arbitrary and capricious application of the death penalty in this state. (R148-57) Appellant challenged the constitutionality of electrocution as cruel and unusual punishment. (R158-59)

Appellant moved for disclosure of impeachment information. (R167-87)

On June 22, 1991, Appellant moved for a change of venue.

(R200-205) The trial court deferred ruling on the Appellant's motion for change of venue until jury selection then denied it.

(R321; T1604)

The trial court granted the State's motion to sever the trials of Virginia Larzelere and Jason Larzelere. (R255-56,274-76,323) The court denied most of Appellant's motions dealing

with Florida's death penalty. (R302-10) On November 1, 1991, the trial court denied Appellant's motion to dismiss the indictment due to governmental misconduct. (R324) On February 10, 1992, the trial court denied Appellant's oral motion to dismiss due to prosecutorial misconduct. (R397)

After the presentation of all evidence, Appellant renewed her motion for judgment of acquittal which the trial court denied. (T5705-6)

During the charge conference, the trial court denied Appellant's requests for several special jury instructions (interest in outcome; number of witnesses and contradicted testimony; law enforcement witnesses; accomplis called by the government; and circumstantial evidence). (T5731-41; R406-12,434-35) Although the State did not request it and Appellant objected to it, the trial court gave the standard instruction dealing with a defendant's statement. (T5744-45) The State believed that the instruction was a required one.

The trial court denied numerous jury instructions requested by the defense. (R406-12,434-35) Following deliberation, the jury found the Appellant guilty of first-degree murder as charged in the indictment. (R436; T5935-38)

Following a penalty phase, the jury returned a bare majority recommendation (7 to 5) that the court impose the death penalty.

(R446)

On May 14, 1993, the trial court adjudicated the Appellant guilty of first-degree murder and sentenced Virginia Larzelere to

death by electrocution. (R1268-72) The court entered written findings of fact in support of the death penalty finding that the murder was committed for financial gain² and that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification.³ (R1273-83) The trial court rejected all statutory mitigating circumstances. (R1283-89) The trial court did find that the evidence supported several nonstatutory mitigating circumstances. (R1290-97) Appellant filed a notice of appeal on May 21, 1993. The trial court declared Appellant indigent and appointed the Office of the Public Defender, Seventh Judicial Circuit, to perfect this appeal. (R1300,1304) This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V,

^{921.141(5)(}f), Florida Statues.

^{§ 921.141(5)(}i), Florida Statutes.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

THE SHOOTING

Dr. Norman Larzelere practiced dentistry in the town of Edgewater, Volusia County, Florida. On March 8, 1991, at approximately 1:00 p.m., Emma Lombardo, Dr. Larzelere's dental assistant, heard the sound of running footsteps in the hall. When she looked up, she saw Dr. Larzelere run down the hall with a masked gunman chasing him. Dr. Larzelere fled to the waiting room and closed the door behind him. (T2407-9) Lombardo described the masked man chasing Dr. Larzelere as tall and skinny. He wore a long-sleeved, blue shirt, jeans and gloves. Lombardo could not see the gunman's hair or skin color. (T2429) Lombardo described the assailant's physique as similar to Jason Larzelere's build, Dr. Larzelere's stepson. (T2416-17)

As Lombardo watched from approximately seven feet away, the masked man fired a shotgun blast through the door of the waiting room. Dr. Larzelere, mortally wounded⁵, fell to the floor calling for help. The gunman turned and left through the rear of the building. (T2411-16)

At the time of the shooting, Hilda Levezinho was in the waiting room in anticipation of her 1:00 p.m. appointment.

⁴ During the aftermath of the shooting, Lombardo heard a hysterical Virginia Larzelere screaming, "Jason? Is that you? Jason?" (T2420)

Lombardo, the only witness to hear this, failed to mention it until several days following the shooting. (T4023-24)

Doctors pronounced Norman Larzelere dead at 2:11 p.m. (T2850-65)

Levezinho heard running before Dr. Larzelere burst into the waiting room, closing the door behind him. Levezinho heard Dr. Larzelere asking for help and heard him twice ask, "Where are you Jason?" (T2158-60)

At the time of the shooting, Virginia Larzelere, Dr.

Larzelere's wife and office manager, was the only other person in the building. (T2397-98) When the shooting occurred, Virginia ran from the business office and struggled with the assailant as he attempted to flee. (T2420-24,4672-74) After unsuccessfully attempting to impede the gunman's escape, Virginia ran back inside and called 911. (T2023-25) Lombardo eventually took over the phone and Virginia tended to her mortally wounded husband. (T2425-26) Police and emergency medical technicians responding to the scene found Virginia Larzelere kneeling over her dying husband. (T2602-9) Virginia appeared to be hysterical, crying and shaking. (T2610-11,2615-16)

Responding to police questioning at the scene, Virginia described the assailant as male, possibly Hispanic, approximately 5'9" tall, 190 pounds, wearing a black shirt with a hood over his face. (T2613) The getaway car⁷ was a blue Toyota with a green

⁶ Shortly after the murder, Ms. Levezinho told the insurance investigators that Dr. Larzelere yelled, "where are you (an uncommon male name that she could not remember)?" Since that interview and prior to trial, Ms. Levezinho claimed to have remembered the name "Jason." Ms. Levezinho could not be certain that her memory had been affected by reading newspaper accounts of the crime. (T2155-60)

⁷ Emma Lombardo did not see Virginia's struggle with the gunman, nor did she hear the getaway vehicles. (T2420-27)

and white tag. The tag had the word "garden" on it and also possibly had a "2" and a "7" on the license. (T2613) Virginia told police that immediately prior to the shotgun blast, Dr. Larzelere exclaimed, "Where's Jason?" (T2612-13)

KRISTEN PALMERI

Kristen Palmeri⁸, a Kelly Services employee, first began working for Dr. Larzelere in February, 1990. Palmeri worked at the dental office sporadically and without a fixed schedule. (T4120-27) Palmeri also lived at the Larzeleres' home on occasion. She had her own telephone line at the Larzelere home. (T4127-29) She drove a white Toyota Celica GT with a car phone provided by Dr. Larzelere. (T4129-30)

On the day of the murder, Palmeri called the dental office to see if she was needed. Virginia suggested that Palmeri come in to work and she arrived at the office during the lunch hour. (T4132-36) After typing and running some errands, Virginia told Palmeri to go to the florist and to "have an alibi and be seen." Virginia handed Palmeri a coffee cup containing a handful of valium. She instructed Palmeri to save the drugs, that Virginia would need them later. (T4135-38) Palmeri left the office about 12:30, went to the florist, got gas for her car, and ate lunch. (T4135-40) When Palmeri returned to the dental office, she saw

⁸ In exchange for her testimony, Kristen Palmeri received use immunity from the State. (T4288)

⁹ Palmeri admitted that she did not remember Virginia's instructions to have an alibi until several weeks had passed. (T4382-83) She admitted giving perjurious statements to police. (T4361-63)

the aftermath of the shooting. (T4142-51)

Virginia Larzelere rode in a police car with a detective to the hospital, while Palmeri followed in her own car. (T4152-58) Palmeri sat with Virginia in the waiting room of the hospital. Palmeri described how Virginia would cry11 when the chaplin was present. When Virginia and Palmeri were alone, Virginia did not appear to be upset. Palmeri claimed that Virginia explained that she had "things to do" and asked Palmeri to get rid of the chaplin. (T4160-61)

Palmeri admitted that she had a stormy relationship with the Larzeleres during her employment. Palmeri had been fired by the Larzeleres, albeit temporarily, on more than one occasion. One of Palmeri's terminations came when the Larzeleres discovered that she stole a gold coin from Virginia's purse. (T4343-46)

THE INSURANCE POLICIES

The State charged Virginia Larzelere with conspiring with her son Jason to kill Dr. Larzelere for the insurance proceeds. In May of 1985, almost six years before the shooting, Dr. Larzelere purchased two life insurance policies for himself and his then fiancee, Virginia. One policy was issued in the amount of \$150,000.00 and the other for \$100,000.00. The policies were

Barbara Herrin, president of the Sun Bank branch across from the dental office, was watching the office during and after the shooting. Herrin saw Palmeri drive by the office slowly right after the shooting. Palmeri returned fifteen minutes later, pulled in, and asked what was happening. (T3976-93)

Palmeri testified that Virginia could "cry on cue," as she had seen her do it in the past. (T4160-61)

"super life", graded-premium policies where the premium increased each year. The beneficiaries on each policy were Norman, Virginia, and Katherine Larzelere. Both of these policies were still in effect at the time of Norman's death. (T2750-61)

On October 13, 1986, more than four years before the shooting, Dr. Larzelere bought another \$25,000.00 life insurance policy, this one from Allstate. The policy listed Virginia as the first beneficiary. (T2761-67) In December, 1986, still more than four years before the shooting, Dr. Larzelere bought a \$250,000.00 life insurance policy, ostensibly to replace the \$150,000.00 Kentucky Central policy purchased more than a year before. In applying for the new policy, the Larzeleres both misrepresented the fact that the only other life insurance policy was the \$150,000.00 Kentucky Central policy. They failed to mention the \$100,000.00 Kentucky Central or the \$25,000.00 Allstate policy. (T2768-77)12 In 1988, three years before the shooting, the couple bought another State Farm life insurance policy for an additional \$300,000.00. (T2778-82) Contemporaneous with this purchase of insurance on Dr. Larzelere's life, the couple also bought a \$250,000.00 life insurance policy on Virginia's life with Norman listed as the beneficiary. $(T2772, 2784-87)^{13}$

¹² Even if the agent had known of the other policies, he still would have sold the additional insurance to the Larzeleres. (T2792-96)

The Larzeleres were a life insurance buying family. In January, 1987, Virginia bought a policy on her father and unsuccessfully attempted to buy one on her mother. The latter

On September 28, 1990, the couple bought another life insurance policy from Allstate which was worth approximately one million dollars after Norman's murder. Virginia was listed as the prime beneficiary. (T2805-11) The Larzeleres also bought a mortgage/life insurance policy in December, 1990, worth approximately \$200,000.00. (T2812,2867-87) The Larzeleres executed a financial statement revealing their net worth to be more than one million dollars. (T2901) Following the shooting, Virginia made claims on several of the policies. (T2765-67,2778-82,2802-4)¹⁴

The State also presented evidence that one of Dr.

Larzelere's wills may have been forged. The evidence conflicted on this issue. (T5535-42) Three witnesses to the will, patients of Dr. Larzelere, denied knowingly signing the will. (T3950-75)

VIRGINIA'S AFFAIRS

The State offered evidence that Virginia loved often if not wisely. Several of her paramours claimed that Virginia attempted to solicit them to murder Norman Larzelere. Norman Lee Karn, Jr., had a three month affair with Virginia in early 1989. (T2023-24,2028) Karn's, testimony was fraught with inconsistency. When confronted with the fact that he attempted

was declined due to ill health. (T2787)

Virginia subsequently waived proceeds of at least one policy for her children's benefit. (T2765-67)

¹⁵ Virginia initially denied any extramarital affairs. (T4676)

⁶ Karn admitted that Virginia dumped him. (T2060)

to sell his testimony for \$500,000.00, Karn claimed to be joking. (T2053-54) Karn admitted that Virginia, who never mentioned any life insurance, had never <u>directly</u> asked him to kill her husband. (T2055-56) Karn claimed that Virginia told him that she was worth forty million dollars and that Norman had made repeated attempts on her life. (T2030-32) She told Karn that she was separated from Norman and had commenced divorce proceedings. (T2029-30) She planned to move to California and marry Karn. (T2032-36)

In late February, 1989, Karn introduced Virginia to Ron Hayden, a country singer and friend of his. (T2038-40) After Karn introduced Virginia to Hayden during a night of drinking at a southern California club, Virginia explained that her husband refused to grant her a divorce. (T2074) She displayed a large sum of money and explained that her husband followed a weekend routine. (T2074, 2081-82) She offered Hayden \$20,000.00, a plane ticket, and a job if he would carry out the

¹⁷ Karn claimed that "in so many words", Virginia told him that she wanted Norman eliminated. (T2031)

Virginia described her relationship with Norman as turbulent, physically violent, untrusting, and without intimacy. (T2046)

¹⁹ Although Karn claimed to have known Hayden only a couple of years, Hayden testified that they had been friends for approximately seventeen years. (T2070)

At trial, Hayden could not identify Virginia as the woman he met that night. (T2071)

Hayden knew Virginia's offer was forthcoming. Karn had first broached the subject of killing Dr. Larzelere. (T2072, 2080)

dastardly deed with a shotgun. (T2038-42,2075) Hayden never believed that Virginia was serious about having her husband killed, dismissing it as "bar talk." (T2079-83,2042-43) Both Karn and Hayden denied having anything to do with the doctor's murder. (T2045,2076)

Virginia also had an affair in 1989 with Phillip Langston, a patient at the dental office. (T2089-90,2095) Virginia confided in Langston about her troubled, violent marriage. 23 She also complained that Norman was having a homosexual affair. (T2095)Following a particularly egregious fight with her husband, Virginia came to Langston's home in a rage. She told Langston that she had to "get rid" of Norman and announced her willingness to pay \$50,000.00 to accomplish that goal. (T2096) Langston did not believe that Virginia was serious and told her to calm down. (T2096-97,2104-5) This was the only time that Langston heard Virginia ever mention a desire to have Norman killed. (T2104) Norman Larzelere ultimately found out about Virginia's affair with Langston and called Langston asking him to terminate the relationship. (T2106) It took Langston six weeks after the murder to call the police and "report" what he knew. (T2106)24

²² Karn admitted that, after this incident, Virginia never again mentioned killing her husband. (T2054-55)

Like many married couples, the Larzeleres had their ups and downs. (T2428-29,2461,3891-95,4348-49)

Langston admitted a certain animus toward Virginia. He considered her to be a conniving, scheming, habitual liar. (T2104) He also admitted owing more than \$5,000.00 to Virginia, money she loaned him during their affair. (T2104-5)

STEPHEN HEIDLE

On October 27, 1990, Stephen Heidle met Jason Larzelere, Virginia's son. Over the next few months, the two became very good friends. Heidle stayed at Jason's Orlando apartment several nights a week and the two frequented nightclubs on the weekends. (T3011-13) On December 20, 1990, Jason moved into a Metro West house. Jason began paying Heidle to run errands and Heidle began spending even more time with Jason. (T3014-15) On January 15, 1991, Heidle left his job at Barnett Bank²⁵ and relied on the money he made running errands for the Larzeleres as well as some financial support from Heidle's own mother. (T3029)

Heidle was the star witness for the State. 26 Prior to testifying at trial, Heidle believed that he would receive complete immunity by cooperating with the police. (T3297-98) By the time he testified, Heidle understood and expected benefits for his testimony. (T3330-31) He did not think that he would be prosecuted for his involvement, but admitted that it was important to maintain his innocence in the actual shooting. (T3300) Additionally, Heidle committed a third-degree felony for which he was never prosecuted. 27 (T3292) He also had a pending

²⁵ In reality, Heidle was fired from his bank job. (T3846-48)

Heidle admitted that he perjured himself when he gave his first statement to police. (R3332) He admitted he was not worried about a perjury prosecution. (T3462-63)

Heidle admitted perjury on his tax return. (T3332,3356-57)

DUI charge in Orange County at the time he testified.28

Stephen Heidle also admitted the personal bias against both Jason and Virginia Larzelere. Heidle, an admitted homosexual, confessed to one sexual episode with Jason Larzelere. (T3385) Heidle also revealed that he and Jason had been feuding in December, 1990. (T3359) In the weeks after the shooting, Heidle and Jason drifted apart. (T3483) By the time he testified, Heidle had grown to loathe Jason. (T3393) Heidle believed that due to his homosexuality, Virginia did not like him. (T3418-20) Heidle and Jason argued over furniture, Jason's car, and homosexual lovers. (T3497-3501,3506-10,3513)

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