FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAY 5 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

VIRGINIA GAIL LARZELERE,

Appellant,

v.

Case No.: 81,793

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The state accepts Larzelere's statement of the case and facts as reasonably accurate. Due to page limitations, the state supplements Larzelere's statement with appropriate additions in the argument section of this brief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

As to Issue I, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in limiting defense counsel's impeachment of Heidle, because the persons who offered reputation evidence against Heidle had known him for a short period of time and did not establish a sufficiently broad based or neutral community. As to Issue II, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Larzelere's motion for a mistrial, because Palmieri's comment was inadvertent, was unintentionally elicited by the state, and was cured by the trial court's subsequent actions.

As to Issue III, the trial court correctly found that the special instructions requested by Larzelere in the guilt phase were amply covered by the standard jury instructions. As to Issue IV, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting selected portions of taped statements into evidence, because the portions admitted into evidence qualified under the co-conspirator exception to the hearsay As to Issue V, the trial court correctly denied Larzelere's pro se motion to discharge counsel and motion for continuance, and counsel's motion to withdraw, because Larzelere intelligently waived her right to conflict-free counsel because had exhibited no counsel and ineffectiveness.

As to Issue VI, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Larzelere's motion for a new trial, investigated Juror Kelley's because extensively it allegations of juror misconduct and determined that none of the conduct alleged warranted a new trial. As to Issue VII, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the bullets alleged to have been fired at the Larzelere home during a drive by shooting, as they were relevant to the state's theory of the case. As to Issue VIII, the trial court properly found that the instant murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner and was committed for financial gain, and did not improperly double these aggravating circumstances.

Issue IX, the trial court properly denied As Larzelere's motion to dismiss the indictment, because the state engaged in no illegal activity in securing a recording of an in-jail conversation between Larzelere and Jason Larzelere. As to Issue X, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in excluding the testimony of Means in "evidence" of the taped, defense case, because the unintelligible conversation between Larzelere and Jason Larzelere was irrelevant and immaterial. As to Issue XI, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Larzelere's motion for a change of venue because she failed establish prejudice as a result of the pretrial publicity.

As to Issue XII, the trial court properly denied Larzelere's motion for a judgment of acquittal, because the state proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Larzelere was fully responsible for her husband's death under a principal theory. As to Issue XIII, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting the statements of Jason Larzelere, because they were admissible as statements of a coconspirator. As to Issue XIV, Larzelere failed to preserve in the trial most of her claims that Florida's death penalty is unconstitutional; those claims which were preserved are clearly without merit.

ARGUMENT

Issue I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN LIMITING LARZELERE'S IMPEACHMENT OF STATE WITNESS HEIDLE.

The decision to exclude evidence is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and such a decision should not disturbed on appeal absent a showing of abuse of discretion. Muehleman v. State, 503 So. 2d 310, 315 (Fla. 1987); Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1111 (1982). In the present case, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in limiting defense counsel's impeachment of Heidle, because the persons who offered reputation evidence against Heidle had known him for a short period of time and did not establish a sufficiently broad based or neutral community.

On proffer, Karen Walker testified that she knew Heidle only through seeing him at three gay bars in Orlando from February or March through April 1991 (T 5586, 5588). The trial court did not permit Walker to testify regarding Heidle's veracity "due to the small number of people described by this witness, through whom she had contact . . . together with the relatively short period testified to that she has known the witnesses, together with the limited cross section or segment of the community to wit, three gay bars . . . " (T 5590-91).

On proffer, Glen Pace testified that he socialized with Heidle at least three times a week in gay bars during December 1990 through April 1991 (T 5627, 5630). stated that he based his opinion on Heidle's veracity on conversations he had with several people who "hung out" with Heidle in the gay bars (T 5638). The trial court prohibited Pace from testifying about Heidle's veracity, because "[t]he segment of the community or cross-section of the community testified to by this witness . . . is not sufficiently broad-based nor neutral enough or generalized enough to be classed as a community " (T 5651-52). The court also commented on "the relatively short period of time that this witness has testified to as to having known Steven Heidle, the small number of people this witness testified to as having supplied him with the information " and found that Pace's testimony was largely "personal opinion and rumor." (T 5652).

Larzelere would have this Court believe that the trial court's alleged error on this point lies in its failure to recognize that Heidle's "community," for the purposes of testimony regarding veracity, could be comprised of bar friends. A complete review of the record on this point reveals that the trial court never said that bar friends could not a "community" make, but instead focused on the small number of people in this "community" and the short

period of time within which they knew and socialized with Heidle. Case law supports the trial court's determination.

In Wisinski v. State, 508 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987), Wisinski argued that Haspell should have been permitted to testify as to his reputation for veracity. Haspell owned a shop near Wisinski's residence and had known Wisinski for about a year prior to Wisinski's arrest, and based his opinion on three or four people who had worked with Wisinski or for Haspell. The Fourth District observed that the "community" could be a working environment, but quoted the following dispositive excerpt from Florida Evidence: "The reputation must be based on discussions among a broad group of people so that it accurately reflects the person's character, rather than the biased opinions or comments of two or three persons or of a narrow segment of the community " C. W. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, Methods of Proving Character -- Reputation Testimony § 405.1 at 197 (1995 ed.).

The Fourth District concluded:

In the present case, the reputation testimony was based on three or four people who worked with [Wisinski] or for Mr. Haspell. Given the small number of people, the limited cross-section, and the relatively short period of time Haspell had known [Wisinski], we do not believe the trial judge abused his discretion in refusing to admit the testimony.

Wisinski, 508 So. 2d at 506. Compare Parker v. State, 458 So. 2d 750, 754 (Fla. 1984) ("the criminal justice system is [n]either neutral enough [n]or generalized enough to be classed as a community"); Fike v. State, 455 So. 2d 628, 629 5th DCA 1984) (reputation evidence must not be (Fla. confined to testimony of particular employees, but must "retain the quality of being 'general'"; thus, "the legal community" of only criminal defense attorneys and not the a whole did not fairly represent a bar community"). See also Rogers v. State, 511 So. 2d 526, 530 (Fla. 1987) (challenge to reputation must be based on more than personal opinion, fleeting encounter, or rumor); Todorovich v. Wolfner, 555 So. 2d 372, 373 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (same); Gamble v. State, 492 So. 2d 1132, 1134 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986) ("One learns of another's general reputation community over a period of time and through in contacts with many people.") (emphasis miscellaneous supplied).

For the same reasons, the trial court in this case Walker and properly limited Pace's testimony. Both testimony on а very witnesses based their interaction with Heidle -- a two to four month period, which consisted strictly of socializing at gay bars. The persons who allegedly knew that community of reputation was that of a liar was very small: According to

Walker, the community consisted of three persons (T 5586); according to Pace, the community consisted of seven people, the names of whom Pace was unsure (T 5638). In a different context, the Third District cautioned against the expansive application of "community" as argued by Larzelere:

The rule . . . is not one to be applied, relative to one's "working community," in too restrictive a manner so as to confine reputation testimony particular co-employees. other In words, where there are close ties . . . between the reputation witnesses and the matter in controversy, testimony relied on to ascertain the nature of one's "general" reputation in his community or would neighborhood be reduced testimony rendered not from co-employees in the more normally understood meaning that term, but rather from very specifically placed co-employees, testifying not about someone's "general" reputation, but rather about the reputation as viewed under predominant cloud οf the specific controversy.

Florida East Coast Railway Co. v. Hunt, 322 So. 2d 68, 70 (Fla. 3d DCA 1975).

In the event this Court finds that the trial court erred on this point, any such error was harmless. Defense counsel conducted an extensive (approximately 600 pages of transcript) cross examination of Heidle, and impeached him with evidence that he had an illegal identification card for drinking alcohol (T 3280); that he had a pending DUI charge (T 3280); that he had received immunity for his testimony (T

3287-88); that he had committed perjury (T 3332-34, 3356-57); and that he had lied to police (T 3385-87, 3389, 3392-93, 3429-30, 3436-37, 3443, 3450, 3847-48). Because it is clear beyond a reasonable doubt that the restriction of Walker and Pace's testimony would not have affected the jury's verdict, any such error was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Issue II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED DISCRETION IN DENYING LARZELERE'S MOTION WHICH WAS FOR A MISTRIAL, BASED STATEMENT PALMIERI'S THAT JASON LARZELERE HAD USED COCAINE PRESENCE.

A motion for a mistrial is "directed solely to the sound discretion of the trial court and should be granted only when it is necessary to ensure that the defendant receives a fair trial." Marek v. State, 492 So. 2d 1055, 1057 (Fla. 1986). Absent a showing of abuse of discretion, the trial court's decision should not be disturbed. Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1981), cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1111 (1982). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying Larzelere's motion for a mistrial, because Palmieri's comment was inadvertent, was unintentionally elicited by the state, and was cured by the trial court's subsequent actions.

The state first offered Palmieri's testimony on proffer (T 4066-119). Prior to her direct testimony, the state instructed Palmieri not to mention Jason Larzelere's alleged homosexuality and drug use/dealing (T 4070-72). On direct examination, the state asked Palmieri if Jason had taken any special actions in preparing for his stepfather's funeral. Palmieri recounted the following:

There was some kind of acne medication, ointment that he used at night. He had taken some of it and placed it on his face and rubbed it in. And he came in the room and asked us if he looked too pale. And I said "yes" and Virginia said "no," that he looked fine; that's the way he was supposed to look.

He made a distinction about switching his ring on his finger and taking the chain bracelet he had off his arm. And she told him that he was supposed to be sick and he was supposed to act like an invalid. And as I was getting dressed downstairs, Jason proceeded to come downstairs and do coke in the tanning room in front of me.

(T 4197).

Defense counsel moved for a mistrial, arguing that Palmieri's cocaine reference had violated the trial court's order granting the defense motion in limine (T 4198). The state responded that it had advised Palmieri prior to her testimony not to refer to drug usage, that Palmieri's response had not been elicited by the state, and that the

limited reference was in no way "suggestive of Virginia's guilt" (T 4198-99). The trial court took the defense motion for a mistrial under advisement, "consider[ed] it as if there were an objection," sustained the objection, struck the reference, and instructed the jury to disregard it (T 4200-01):

Ladies and gentlemen of the jury, the court has stricken the response of this witness just made to the extent that it refers to the use of coke in her presence or alleged use of coke in her presence by Jason. From the record it has now been stricken, and you are instructed to disregard it entirely and not consider it in any way in your consideration of any of the issues of this case.

Can you follow that instruction by the court that I've now given to you to disregard it? Answer audibly.

(All jurors respond affirmatively.)

Is there anyone who cannot disregard it? If so, raise your hand.

Let the record reflect that no hand is raised.

You may proceed.

(T 4201).

Larzelere cites a number of cases which stand for the proposition that a defendant's character cannot be assailed unless she has introduced the issue of character first. This argument overlooks the fact that the cocaine reference

had nothing to do with Virginia Larzelere, but involved only her son Jason. Section 90.404, Florida Statutes (1991), specifically enunciates the manner in which the character of the accused, the victim, or a witness may be admitted. Jason Larzelere is not the defendant, the victim, or a witness in this case.

Larzelere next contends that, because the state's that she so dominated her son that manipulated him into killing his stepfather, any reference collateral crimes committed by Jason necessarily implicated her through "quilt by association." Brief at 42-43. As supportive of this contention, Larzelere cites to Fulton v. State, 335 So. 2d 280 (Fla. 1976). Fulton, an armed Fulton approached an armed Banks, the victim; Fulton grabbed Banks; a struggle ensued; and Banks Fulton claimed self defense, and relied upon was killed. the testimony of Bartee to establish that Banks had a violent reputation in the community. On cross examination of Bartee, the state established that Bartee was charged with second degree murder, "an entirely unrelated offense." Id. at 282. This Court found error in the admission of this evidence, and rejected the state's harmless error argument, because Bartee's testimony was the heart of Fulton's self defense claim and because of

possibility of a "spill-over" The jury's perception of the defendant might have been colored by the knowledge of a friend's involvement in a collateral matter. The danger of "quilt by association" is a real one, which ought to be mini[]mized whenever mini[]mized possible. The fact that the defendant and the witness were each charged with degree murder, although were unrelated, enhances second crimes the danger of possible "spill-over" ą effect.

Id. at 285 (citation omitted).

It is immediately apparent that the instant issue does not involve the <u>Fulton</u> scenario. First, the state did not elicit Palmieri's testimony deliberately. Second, the crimes with which Larzelere was charged and Jason's alleged cocaine use were not entirely unrelated. As a full review of Palmieri's testimony shows, her inadvertent reference to Jason's drug use was part of her much lengthier description of Larzelere's manipulation of Jason's behavior even after the victim's murder.

In any event, any error on this point was harmless. The trial court took curative steps after Palmieri's testimony on this point which were sufficient to dissipate any prejudicial effects of this testimony, and all jurors indicated that they would disregard the drug reference.

Marek, 492 So. 2d at 1057; Ferguson v. State, 417 So. 2d 639, 641-42 (Fla. 1982); Salvatore v. State, 366 So. 2d 745,

751 (Fla. 1978), cert. denied, 444 U.S. 885 (1979). Beyond a reasonable doubt, this reference did not affect the jury's verdict based on its limited nature and the trial court's curative instructions. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

Issue III

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